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   DATE:      June 15, 2006

REASON FOR REFERRAL

On March 22, 2006, The Honorable Mike Shaughnessy, Circuit Court Judge of the Ninth Judicial Circuit, appointed Dr. Maria Smith to conduct an evaluation of Thomas Jones.  The Order Requiring Psychological Evaluation calls for the evaluation to address: (a) impulse control; (b) necessary services to support reunification process; (c) emotional functioning; (d) current mental health; (e) propensity toward violence; (f) illegal drug abuse; (g) alcohol abuse (h) prescription drug use; (i) sexual abuse; (j) presence of adequate support systems; (k) personality disorders; (l) emotional functioning/dysfunction; (m) emotional stability; (n) future risk; (o) attachment and bonding issues
RELEASE OF EVALUATION

The Honorable Mike Shaughnessy has ordered this evaluation of Thomas Jones to be released to the following:

· The Court

· Department of Children and Families

· Office of the Attorney General

· The Guardian ad Litem

· Counsel for the Guardian ad Litem

INFORMED CONSENT

Thomas Jones is not of an age to provide informed consent; therefore, formal written consent was not obtained.  Thomas was verbally informed that he would be asked questions and that his responses would be written down and included in the final report.  Further, Thomas was advised of the limits of confidentiality such that any information provided during the course of the evaluation that indicated he or other minors had suffered abuse would be reported for investigation as required by law.  Thomas appeared to assent to the evaluation in that he willingly complied with the requests of the evaluator and communicated information.  Prior to interviews with collateral informants, the limits of confidentiality were explained to them as well.  All parties involved willingly complied with requests for information.

EVALUATION PROCEDURES AND TESTING
Dr. Maria Smith conducted all interviews, testing and record reiews.  The testing and evaluation procedures included:

Interviews and Observations of Thomas Jones
· Thomas’s recent history (.5hr) – 5/23/06

· Observation of Thomas Jones at St. Petersburg Academy (.5hr) – 5/23/06

· Clinical interview with Thomas Jones at the UFC Psychological Serices Center (.75hr) – 5/23/06

· Intellectual and personality testing of Thomas Jones at the UFC Psychological Services Center – Westinghouse Intelligence Scale for Children – Fourth Edition and New York Multiphasic Personality Inventory – Adolescent (5 hrs) – 5/24/06
· Clinical interview with Thomas Jones and completion of Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Function – Self-Report at the UFC Psychological Services Center (3 hrs.) – 5/25/06

· Observation of Thomas Jones and discussion with teachers at St. Petersburg Academy school (1.25 hrs) – 5/27/06
Collateral Interviews
· Collateral interview with Sasha Grace, Director of Community Services, St. Petersburg Academy, regarding Thomas’s recent history (1.5 hrs) – 5/23/06

· Collateral interview with Amanda Sims, Counselor, St. Petersburg Academy (.5 hr) – 5/23/06

· Follow-up conversation with Sasha Grace at St. Petersburg Academy (.25 hr) – 5/27/06

· Collateral interview with Kelly Jones, biological mother, at her residence (1.5 hrs) – 5/30/06

· Collateral interview with Dr. James Yeh, psychiatrist St. Petersburg Academy, via phone (.75 hr) – 6/3/06

· Follow-up conversation with Kelly Jones, biological mother, via telephone (.5 hr) – 6/7/06

Assessment Instruments and Measures Completed by Thomas Jones
· New York Multiphasic Personality Inventory – Adolescent Version

· Westinghouse Intelligence Scale for Children – Fourth Edition

· Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Function – Self-Report

· Estimate of Risk of Adolescent Sexual Offense Recidivism

Assessment Instruments Completed by Collateral Sources

· Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Functions – Teacher Report

Records Review – Thomas Jones
Psychological/Psychosocial Evaluations:
· Sexual Misconduct Evaluation conducted by Lauren White, LMHC, dated 5/5/03

· Psychological Evaluation conducted by Mary Burns, Ph. D., CHI, dated 7/12/03

· Psychiatric Consultation conducted by James Yeh, M.D. and Chris Brown, M.D., CHI, dated 7/10/03

· Psychiatric Consultation conducted by James Yeh, M.D. and Chris Brown, M.D., CHI dated 10/20/03

·  Psychological Evaluation conducted by Jason Martin, PH.D. dated 2/5/04

· Psychiatric Consultation conducted by Leslie Larkin, M.D., TBA, dated 2/15/04

· Sexual Offender Evaluation conducted by Carol Coker, LMHC, dated 2/15/04

· Sea Turtle Youth Services Psychiatric Evaluation conducted by Joseph Trendle, M.D., dated 3/13/04

· Sea Turtle You Services School Psychological Evaluation dated 8/13/04

· Juvenile Risk Assessment for Sexual-Re-Offending report prepared by Mary Hopkins, LCSW dated 12/22/04

· Psychosocial Assessment conducted by John Seamac, B.A., dated 3/4/05
· Psychiatric Assessment conducted by James Yeh, M.D., dated 3/4/05

· Psychological Evaluation conducted by Michael Chin, Ph.D., dated 8/19/05

Clinical Review Reports
· Coral Springs Kids, Inc. Incident Report dated 5/12/04

· Coral Springs Kids, Inc. Incident Report dated 5/12/04

· Coral Springs Kids, Inc. Incident Report dated 5/13/04
· Coral Springs Kids, Inc. Incident Report dated 12/6/04

· Sea Turtle Youth Services 28-Day Clinical Summary dated 5/19/04

· Sea Turtle Youth Services 28-Day Clinical Summary dated 6/9/04
· Sea Turtle Youth Services 28-Day Clinical Summary dated 7/7/04
· Sea Turtle Youth Services 28-Day Clinical Summary dated 8/4/04
· Sea Turtle Youth Services 28-Day Clinical Summary dated 10/7/04
· Sea Turtle Youth Services 28-Day Clinical Summary dated 3/2/05
· 90-Day Clinical Review of Residential Treatment Services Reports:

· Kristen Clements, Ph. D. dated 10/3/04

· Pablo Escobar, Ph. D. dated 12/10/04

· Stacey Michaels, Ph. D. dated 4/14/05

· Amy Scasser, Ph. D. dated 9/22/05

· Lance Bugg, Ph. D. dated 10/23/05

· St. Petersburg Academy Progress Notes dated 8/14/05

· St. Petersburg Academy Progress Notes dated 9/11/05

· St. Petersburg Academy Progress Notes dated 10/9/05

· St. Petersburg Academy Progress Notes dated 11/6/05

· St. Petersburg Academy Family Therapy Notes dated 10/3/05 through 11/27/05

· St. Petersburg Academy Individual Therapy Notes dated 10/5/05 through 11/27/05

· St. Petersburg Academy Trauma Group therapy Notes dated 10/2/05 through 12/4/05

· St. Petersburg Academy Group Home Monthly Progress Notes dated 9/30/05 through 11/30/05

Related Records:

· Predisposition Study dated 10/12/05

· Recommendation letter from Cassie Owens, LCSW, Children’s Home, dated 5/15/04

· Guardian ad Litem Report to the Court dated 6/5/04

· Guardian ad Litem Report to the Court dated 11/14/04

· Permanency Hearing/Judicial Review Social Study Report dated 2/12/05

· Guardian ad Litem Report to the Court dated 3/12/05

· HKI Reunification and Staffing report dated 7/18/05

· Permanency Hearing/Judicial Review Social Study Report dated 10/25/05

· HKI Risk Assessment Report dated 1/27/06

· Permanency Hearing/Judicial Review Social Study Report dated 2/22/05

· Letter from Emily Knox, GAL Program Attorney dated 4/19/05

Other
· Psychological Evaluation conducted by Kate Ramage, Ph.D., on Kelly Jones dated 12/15/04
Summary of Evaluation Procedures
· Testing, interviewing and observing Thomas Jones:

11.00 hours

· Collateral interviews:





  5.00 hours

· Review of records:





25.00 hours

HISTORY AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION

(Historical information in this report is derived from the sources listed above.)

Birth and Development
Thomas Jones, a Caucasian male, was born in St. Petersburg, FL on December 12, 1989, to Kelly Jones.  According to his biological mother, Ms. Jones obtained proper prenatal care and Thomas did not experience any pregnancy or birth complications.  Thomas did not test positive for drugs or alcohol at the time of his birth.  Ms. Jones indicated that Thomas met all developmental milestones on target and received appropriate medical treatment, including inoculations.

According to Ms. Jones, as well as previous evaluation reports, Thomas was the fourth child born to Ms. Jones.  Although Joshua Jones is listed on the birth certificate as Thomas’s legal father, his biological father is identified as Rob Morilo.  According to Thomas and Ms. Jones, there has never been any interaction between Thomas and his biological father.  All of Thomas’s siblings including his younger half-brother, Tyler, are the biological children of Kelly and Joshua Jones.

Thomas was described by Ms. Jones as difficult to manage behaviorally since early childhood.  Specifically, she stated that Thomas had been impulsive starting around age four, and would frequently take things from stores or her purse without notifying anyone of their removal.  Ms. Jones recalled an incident when Thomas had removed her rent money totaling $350 from her purse and donated it to a school fundraiser.  Other evidence of impulsive behaviors included running down streets or throwing things without though of consequences.  Ms. Jones further stated that Thomas was very difficult for her to manage and would become aggressive when angry – one such occasion required police intervention when Thomas kicked his mother and she feared the behavior would escalate (no charges were filed).  She indicated, however, that Thomas was not identified as a behavioral problem in school
RESIDENTIAL PLACEMENTS AND BACKGROUND

Kelly Jones – Biological Mother
Ms. Jones stated that Thomas resided with her and his step-father Joshua Jones, from birth until approximately age 3.5 years.  During that time, she indicated Thomas witnessed repeated domestic violence and abuse by Mr. Jones against his mother, and Thomas was a victim of abuse and neglect by Mr. Jones.  At approximately age 3.5 years, Thomas informed his mother that he was being sexually abused by his step-father, Joshua Jones, including oral and anal penetration.  Ms. Jones stated that she reported the abuse to the police and that a medical evaluation confirmed evidence of anal penetration.  Although Thomas stated that he could only recall a single incident of abuse, prior psychological evaluations indicate ongoing abuse lasting at least one month, based on Thomas’s and Ms. Jones’s prior statements.

Thomas (age 3 years – 6 months), along with his mother and half-brother, Tyler, moved from Joshua Jones’s residence immediately after the allegations of sexual abuse were made.  Beginning around age four, Thomas, along with his half-brother, and his mother moved in with her paramour, Chad Capps.  Thomas reported witnessing a single incident of domestic violence against his mother when he was approximately ten years old.  He stated that “Chad got drunk and started choking and hitting mom.  Me and Tyler tried to stop him, but he sent us back to our room.” Thomas recalled that the police were summoned; however, no charges were filed and the altercation quickly resumed after the police left the residence.  According to Thomas, Mr. Capps moved out shortly after the incident and, since that time, has resided with Thomas’s maternal grandmother, Irene Thompson, as her paramour.
Lindsay Dunn, Half-sister, and Adams Family (non-relative placement)

Thomas, then age 11 years, 5 months, and his half-brother, left their mother’s care to live with his then 15-year-old half-sister, Lindsay, her husband, and her mother-in-law, Leslie Dunn, in Alachua, FL in May 2001.  According to previous evaluation reports, Ms. Jones’s struggle with substance abuse, mental health issues, and her inability to manage the children’s behavior was cited for the move.  Shortly after the transition to this residence, Ms. Dunn moved the family, including Thomas, to Maine.  According to a report prepared by Mildred Shea dated 5/12/04, Thomas reported engaging in consensual sexual behavior, including anal and oral sex, with the eighteen year old brother of his sister’s husband for approximately six months while living with the Dunn family.  However, during our interview on May 23, 2006 Thomas indicated that he had not been a victim of “sexual abuse” during his stay with the Dunn family, although he did acknowledge his brother-in-law’s brother residing in the house with them.  Ms. Jones stated that, after the move to Maine, Thomas’s sister contacted her and reported both Thomas and Tyler were being abused by Ms. Dunn, including beatings and Ms. Dunn’s attempt to push Thomas out of a moving vehicle.  According to Ms. Jones, she instructed her daughter to return both boys to St. Petersburg.  Upon their return, Ms. Jones stated that she arranged for Thomas and Tyler to be placed with a family who were previous neighbors of Thomas’s sister, identified as the Adams family, despite the fact that Ms. Jones had never met the family.  Thomas and Tyler were formally sheltered with Mr. and Mrs. Adams by DCF on August 16, 2001 (see Predisposition Study dated 10/15/01.) Thomas, then age 11 years, 8 months, along with his brother, was taken into DCF custody on August 21, 2001 and adjudicated dependent on December 1, 2001, due to the mother’s failure to protect them.
Thomas resided with the Adams family for several months until such time that his and his brother’s behavior became unmanageable and they requested both boy’s removal.  Thomas and his brother were placed at the Coral Springs County Children’s Shelter at Lake Mangy.

Kelly Jones – Biological Mother
Thomas (then age 12 years, 1 month), along with Tyler, was reunified with his mother and moved in with her and her paramour, Jamie Delman, on January 11, 2002.  During this time, Thomas was placed in involuntary confinement under the Baker Act on two separate occasions for suicidal behavior: he consumed a large quantity of his mother’s prescription acid reflux medication on one occasions; on another, he expressed suicidal ideation and attempted to cut his wrists.  Also, during this time, Thomas reported that he and his brother were fighting with each other “all the time,” breaking out windows, and destroying the house.  Ms. Jones stated that, due to her inability to care for them, citing ungovernable behavior and personal health concerns, she requested their removed on April 15, 2002, when Thomas was age twelve years, four months (See also Permanency Hearing Report dated 2/12/05)
Roberts Services, St. Petersburg, FL
Thomas (age 12 years, 4 months) was sheltered on April 15, 2002 and placed at Roberts Services, along with his brother.  While residing at Roberts, Thomas reportedly engaged in sexually inappropriate behavior with a five year old boy while on a weekend home visit with a potential adoptive family.  Specifically, the prospective adoptive mother reported observing Thomas sitting in a chair with his pants down and her son sitting on his lap.  The subsequent investigation was closed with no follow-up charges made.  In addition, Thomas reported having as many as three male sexual partners while placed at Roberts, all of which he described as consensual (personal interview with Thomas).  A psychological evaluation conducted by Mary Burns, Ph.D. dated July, 13 2003, indicated that Kelly Jones resumed contact with Thomas and Tyler, “visiting every other week and calling almost daily.  She began to express interest in reunification.”  According to a report prepared by the Psychological Management Group dated May 5, 2003, Thomas was removed from Roberts due to “staff concern that he posed a serious risk to the younger children that were residing at Roberts,” and that “Thomas reportedly engaged in sexually inappropriate behaviors including writing sexually inappropriate behaviors including writing sexually suggestive letters to other children in the program and rubbing and kissing another child’s arm while [t]he [child] slept.”
Children’s Home, Inc., St. Petersburg, FL
During July 2002, both Thomas (then 12 years, 7 months) and Tyler were moved to the Children’s Home.  According to Psychiatric Consultation reports dated July 10, 2003 and October 20, 2003, Thomas experienced behavioral problems including inconsistency in following directions and failure to complete chores; however, he reportedly showed continued improvement in behavior and adjustment to the facility and routine.  Thomas was described as “considerate and polite”, practiced good hygiene, but was noted to hoard items such as cups, feminine hygiene products, and other inconsequential items.  However, prior evaluation reports indicate that he continued to engage in sexual activity with other residents, became aggressive, ran away, and stole items (see Owens report dated May 15, 2004; HKI Incident reports).  During this period, Thomas reportedly exposed his penis to his three-year-old cousin during an Easter home visit with his mother and brother.  According to Thomas (interview dated May 23, 2006), “I stood up and I showed her my penis and told her it was candy.  I wanted her to touch it because I wanted to see what it felt like, but knew it was wrong and didn’t want to hurt her.  She ran out and told her mom, ‘Tom showed me his pee pee.’  My aunt took her to the hospital and my mom took me back to Children’s Home.”  Thomas further stated that an investigator came to the Children’s Home and discussed the matter with him; however, no charges were filed, although he was informed that he was no longer allowed to be alone with children, including his brother.  Ms. Jones indicated that Thomas initially denied the exposure allegation, but then acknowledged the act and apologized.  She further indicated that she was unaware of any other incidents of inappropriate exposure.  Also, according to prior evaluation reports (see St. Petersburg Academy evaluation report dated February 2, 2004; psychiatric evaluation dated March 9, 2004; Bugg report dated October 23, 2004; Scasser report dated May 5, 2005), and self-report, Thomas continued to engage in sexual activities with residents, including an ongoing relationship with his roommate at the Children’s Home.
St. Petersburg Academy Residential Services, Streamview, FL
On October 19, 2003, Thomas (then age 12 years, 10 months) was transferred to the residential program at St. Petersburg Academy in order to receive treatment for his history of “suicidal and homicidal feelings in addition to gender identity confusion and difficulty regulating sexual urges,” based on his previous history and a recommendation by his social worker at the Children’s home, Cassie Owens (see report dated May 15, 2004).
According to a psychiatric assessment report dated February 2, 2004, Thomas initial adjustment at St. Petersburg Academy was unremarkable; however, approximately four months after his admission, he began to exhibit behavioral changes such that he became oppositional, defiant, and physically assaultive both towards peers and staff… After he assaulted a peer and stabbed him in the back with a pen he was arrested and sent to JDC for 21 days.  He told me that the reason why he did that was because he was angry and also because he wanted to get out of SPA for awhile.”  Thomas reported to authorities at SPA after his return from JDC that he had been raped on two different occasions by his roommate at JDC (see DCF Home Safenet report dated 2/26/04).  Thomas discussed the incident with an investigator after he was transferred to Sea Turtle (see below) but does not know the outcome of the investigation.

While residing at St. Petersburg Academy, Thomas continued to engage in sexual activities with residents of the facility.  A Guardian ad Litem Report to the Court dated November 14, 2004, indicated that, “based on Dr. Scasser’s recommendation, Thomas has been placed in a private room at St. Petersburg Academy to safeguard the safety of other children.”  Further, arrangements were to be made for a private therapist who treats juvenile sexual offenders for weekly session with Thomas.  In addition to recommendations for juvenile sexual offender treatment, Thomas was also referred for anger management therapy.

Sea Turtle Youth Services, Lakeland, FL

Thomas (then age 14 years, 5 months) was transferred to Sea Turtle Youth Services in Lakeland, FL on May 8, 2004.  Treatment goals for problem areas included depression, anger management, sexual impulse control, and family issues.  Clinical summary reports indicated Thomas’s initial adjustment fluctuated between compliance and petulant behavior, including both physically and verbally inappropriate sexual behavior toward residents without regard toward consequences, and he demonstrated frequent mood swings and low frustration tolerance.  Based on self-report and clinical reports, Thomas continued to engage in sexually oriented behavior with several residents while in treatment.  The sexual overtures and behavior were credited to his low self-esteem and behaviors Thomas resorted to in order to gain friendships (see Dr. Trendle’s clinical summary report dated March 13, 2004).  Thomas was noted to become more involved and motivated as treatment progressed, and his academic involvement was described as “excellent” and steady throughout his placement.  Prior to his discharge, summary reports displaying more role model behaviors.  He continues to work hard in group therapy and shows an excellent understanding of concepts.  Tom has leadership capabilities which he continues to develop.”  According to a clinical summary report dated March 2, 2005, the Sear Turtle Treatment Team recommended that Thomas return to his family at discharge, with provisional requirements that both he and his mother continue their commitment to mandated protocols.  Recommendations were made for Thomas to continue with individual and family therapy, and Thomas was advised to “consider the support of a youth group concerning his homosexual orientation.”  Thomas completed a one-year treatment program and was discharged from Sea Turtle on May 5, 2005

St. Petersburg Academy, Streamview, FL

Thomas (then age 15 years, 5 months) returned to St. Petersburg Academy after discharge from Sea Turtle and entered the Group Home area, a step-down placement from the residential treatment program.  According to Group Home Monthly Progress reports, Thomas has progressed through the various levels of the program and been awarded progressively higher privileges with few setbacks.  During October 2005, after reaching the second highest level, Thomas was charged with stealing items at the local YMCA on one occasion and a cell phone from a visitor at SPA on another.  As punishment, Thomas was denied previously earned privileges and dropped to the lowest level of the Group Home program.  Psychiatric progress notes dated August 14, 2005, indicate Thomas’s stealing behavior was attributed to impulse control problems, but stated he did not appear to have impulse control problems in other areas.  Thomas’s levels and privileges were quickly restored, and he was given day passes allowing him to return home for eight-hour visits.  While on his first weekend visit over Thanksgiving, Thomas stole a bucket of coins from his mother’s live-in boyfriend (estimated value = $50).  Thomas was required to make restitution and again lost privileges at St. Petersburg Academy.  Thomas continued to make progress with his treatment and behavior plan, and was again promoted through the levels.  Privileges were restored and, based on his behavior and treatment compliance, Thomas was elevated to the highest level.  Thomas was awarded a three-day pass to spend the Christmas holiday with his mother and half-brother.  In addition, plans were implemented to enroll Thomas in mainstream classes at Streamview High School after the winter break in order to reintegrate him back into the academic community.
Summary of Background and Placements
Thomas has a history of sexual abuse, physical abuse, neglect, witness to domestic violence, as well as a history of sexually inappropriate behavior, including exposing his penis to his three-year-old female cousin.  Further, Thomas has repeatedly engaged in sexual activities with adolescent males, which he describes as consensual, despite sanctions for such behavior.  He has resided in foster care placements or residential treatment facilities since age 11, with varying degrees of program compliance.  Thomas is currently residing at St. Petersburg Academy where he has attained the least-restrictive level at the Group Home area, a step-down, non residential treatment program at SPA.  At present, he appears to function well in a structured environment with clearly defined rules and adequate supervision.  He continues, however, to engage in patterns of stealing which appear instrumental in nature and preplanned rather than impulsive.  This may be evidence of characterological deficits and/or underdeveloped moral reasoning.

EDUCATIONAL BACKGROUND
According to a psychological evaluation report dated July 12, 2003 (Mary Burns, Ph.D.), Thomas had attended twelve different schools and transferred fifteen times by the sixth grade.  He attended sixth grade at Ramblewood Middle School while residing at the Children’s Home.  A review of his current records indicate that, upon transfer to St. Petersburg Academy’s residential program, Thomas attended the charter school on SPA campus, then transferred to the charter program at Seat Turtle, both of which were contained EHE classes.  After completion of the Sea Turtle program, Thomas retuned to the charter school at St. Petersburg Academy.  Both past and current records indicate that he has maintained a consistent and conscientious effort in his academic programs and received average to above-average grades, excelling in reading and written language.  Thomas is currently enrolled in the ninth grade at St. Petersburg Academy.

INTELLECT ASSESSMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS
Prior Assessment of Intellectual Functioning and Academic Achievement

Mary Burns, Ph.D. – Evaluation conducted on 11/13/02

Thomas, at age 12 years, 11 months, obtained a Full Scale Intelligence Score of 101 on the Westinghouse Intelligence Scale for Children – Third Edition, placing him on the average range (53rd percentile) of same-age peers.  His Verbal IQ was estimated at 111 (high average; 77th percentile), while his Performance IQ of 91 placed him in the average range (27th percentile).  His achievement scores measured by the Woodcock-Smithson – Test of Achievement, Third Edition placed him in the average range for Total Achievement (SS – 105, 63rd percentile), Broad Reading (SS = 102, 56th percentile), and Broad Math (SS = 100, 50th percentile); while his scores in Broad Written Language (SS = 114, 83rd percentile) and Oral Language (SS = 112, 78th percentile) placed him in the high average range.

Current Assessment of Intellectual Functioning

On February 13, 2005, Thomas, age 16 years, 1 month, was administered the Westinghouse Intelligence Scale for Children – Fourth Edition.  Thomas obtained a Full Scale IQ score of 103, placing him in the average range of intelligence and the 58th percentile rank of age-related peers.  There is a 95% chance that his actual FSIQ lies in the range of 98 to 108.

Composite scores are listed below.  Composite standard scores are calculated by comparing Logan’s scores with those obtained by a representative sample of age-equivalent or grade-equivalent peers.  These standard scores have a mean of 100 and a standard deviation of 15.

Scale


Composite
   Percentile
           Confidence 

Qualitative 


               Score
       Rank

  Interval
            Description
Verbal Comprehension   104

         61 

    97-111

   Average

Perceptual Reasoning
    102

         55

    94-109

   Average

Working Memory
     99

         47

    91-107
   
   Average

Processing Speed
    100

         50

    91-109

   Average

Total Achievement
    103

         58

    98-108

   Average

The Verbal Comprehension Index is a measure of verbal concept formulation, verbal reasoning, and knowledge acquired from one’s environment.  The Perceptual Reasoning Index measures perceptual and fluid reasoning, spatial processing, and visual-motor integration.  The Working Memory Index measures the ability to temporarily retain information in memory, perform some operation or manipulation with it, and produce a result.  Logan scored within the average range, suggesting adequately developed abilities in attention, concentration, mental control, and reasoning.  Working memory is also closely related to achievement and learning.  Thomas’s obtained score on the Processing Speed Index places him in the average range for ability to quickly scan, sequence, or discriminate simple visual information, including short-term visual memory, attention to visual stimuli, and visual-motor coordination.
Listed below are subscale scores obtained on the WISC-IV.  The individual subtest scaled scores represent Thomas’s performance relative to his same-aged peers and have a mean of 10 and a standard deviation of 3.  Lori’s subscale scores were as follows:

Subscales


Scaled


Age

Percentile





Score

       Equivalent
    Rank

Verbal Comprehension:


Similarities

   12


>16-10

       75


Vocabulary

   11


>16-10

       63


Comprehension
   10


   16-6

       50


(Information)

     7


   11-6

       16


(Word Reasoning)
   11


>16-10

       63

Perceptual Reasoning


Block Design

   11


>16-10

       63


Picture Concepts
     7


   10-2

       16


Matrix Reasoning
   13


>16-10

       84


(Picture Completion)     11


>16-10

       63

Working Memory


Digit Span

   10


  15-10

       50

    Letter-Number Sequencing
   10 


  15-10

       50


(Arithmetic)

   11


>16-10

       63
Processing Speed


Coding


    7


  12-10

       16


Symbol Search
   13


>16-10

       84

Thomas’s score on the Picture Concept subtest indicates a weakness in abstract categorical reasoning ability seen in less than 10-25% of age relevant peers.  His obtained score on the Coding subtest suggests a weakness in visual-motor coordination, visual perception, and short-term memory.

Below is a brief description of each WISC-IV subtest:


Information:

general factual knowledge, long-term memory


Similarities:

abstract reasoning, categories and relationships.


Arithmetic:

attention and concentration, numerical reasoning.


Vocabulary:

word knowledge, verbal fluency.


Comprehension:
social adjustment, common sense reasoning.


Digit Span:

short-term auditory memory, concentration.


Picture Completion:
alertness to essential details.


Block Design:

spatial, abstract visual problem solving.


Picture Concepts:
fluid reasoning and abstract categorical reasoning ability


Word Reasoning:
general reasoning, verbal abstraction, domain knowledge


Matrix Reasoning:
fluid intelligence, general intellectual ability

L/N Sequencing:
sequencing, mental manipulation, attention, short-term auditory memory

Coding:

short-term memory, visual-motor coordination, visual perception

Symbol Search:
short-term visual memory, visual-motor coordination concentration

Summary

Based on an obtained FSIQ of 103 on the WISC-IV, Thomas’s intelligence is within the average range.  His full-scale and composite scores are consistent with scores obtained during previous testing where he was also administered achievement testing with no evidence of learning disorders.  However, the variability in his subscale testing (e.g., Coding, Information) suggests that he may have difficulties in certain areas compared to same-grade peers, specifically with completing paper/pencil assignments, such as note taking or copying blackboard assignments.  This is a common neglect profile for children raised in less-stimulating environments such as Thomas’s.

PSYCHOLOGICAL EVALUATIONS

Psychological Background

 By history, Thomas has been diagnosed with:
· Encopresis, Conduct Disorder – Adolescent-Onset Type, Mild, Posttraumatic Stress Disorder, Major Depressive Disorder (Amy Scasser, Ph.D., September 22, 2005

· Depressive Disorder NOS, Paraphilia NOS, R/O Bipolar Disorder, R/O Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (Joseph Trendle, M.D., March 13, 2004)

· Depressive Disorder NOS, Paraphilia NOS, Posttraumatic Stress Disorder, and Bipolar Disorder NOS (James Yeh, M.D., March 4, 2005)

Beginning with his placement at St. Petersburg Academy, Thomas was subject to periodic reviews to determine his mental status, therapeutic progress, and need for continued residential care.  Following is a summary of those reviews that were available to this evaluatior.

Placement
Date of
Evaluator
   Met

Recommendations or Comments



  Eval 



Criteria







For RTC

SPA

10/3/04
Clements
No

Group or Foster Home

SPA                 12/10/04          Escobar          Yes
Continue in RTC w/ focus on    emotional/behavioral issues

STYS              4/14/05            Michaels         Yes
Remain in Statewide Inpatient Psychiatric Program at STYS
SPA

9/22/05
Scasser

Yes

Therapeutic Group Home.
“Review of available records indicated that Thomas generally has
maintained appropriate behavior since his admission to the treatment program … recommendation based on history and presenting (DSM) symptoms

SPA

10/23/05
Bugg

Yes

Thomas continued to sexually act

out; suffers from one or more concurrent disorders requiring residential psychiatric care

Current Psychological Evaluation
A psychological evaluation was conducted with Thomas over several sessions.  Thomas appeared alert with intact memory for past and current events.  Expressive and receptive language appeared intact, as he was able to understand inquiry and respond appropriately.  There was evidence of normal thought control (e.g., no delusional or unorganized thought, rational and relevant organization).  Thomas’s mood fluctuated between slightly anxious to relaxed, depending on the circumstances and/or topic of the evaluation; affect appeared over-regulated and, on occasion, incongruent to stated mood (e.g., restricted range of emotion when discussing history of abuse, emotional turmoil of non-relative placements, history of casual sexual relations).

Thomas reported an absence of depressive symptoms, including sleep disturbance, poor concentration, agitation, loss of appetite, failure to enjoy activities, or suicidal ideation.  There is no evidence or acknowledgement of past or current drug or alcohol abuse.  He reported a history of nightmares or reoccurring memories of past sexual abuse; however, he stated he has not experienced any symptom reoccurrence for approximately one year.  Finally, there have been no reports (self- or collateral-) of emotional or behavioral outburst or aggressive behaviors, for a period of greater than one year, and Thomas continues to maintain treatment and medication compliance

New York Multiphasic Personality Inventory – Adolescent Version (NYMPI-A)
The NYMPI-A is a 478-item inventory designed to assess adolescents’ characteristics and symptomatolgy relevant to personality functioning and psychopathology.  The NYMPI-A includes validity scales designed to detect deviant test taking attitudes and responses, as well as clinical scales consisting of items developed to identify respondents who manifested a history of symptomatology associated with specific psychopathologies (e.g., physical complaints, depression, hysterical reactions to stress, antisocial personality disorder, gender identification, paranoia, obsessive-compulsive neurosis, schizophrenia, hypomania, and social dysfunction).

The NYMPI-A validity scales indicated that Thomas responded to the items in a defensive manner, tended to minimize personal faults, and may have been reluctant to disclose personal information.  Specifically, Thomas obtained an elevated (K-scale) score which is designed to measure social desirability, psychological defensiveness, and other tendencies toward avoiding self-disclosure.  His defensiveness may have resulted in the NYMPI-A reporting a clinical profiles and an underestimate of his problems; therefore, the information provided by him may not be an accurate appraisal of his current level of personality function.  Further, the defensiveness response set displayed by Thomas indicates that he either has little insight into his problems or is not willing to outwardly acknowledge personal faults.  Based on the above, Thomas’s standard profile, and his content and supplementary scale profiles, are not subject to meaningful or valid interpretation.

Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Function (BRIEF)

The BRIEF is a rating scale that assesses executive function behaviors, a collection of processes that are responsible for guiding, directing, and managing cognitive, emotional, and behavioral functioning, particularly during active, novel problem solving.  Specific areas that make up this collection of regulatory or management functions include the ability to initiate behavior, inhibit competing actions or stimuli, select relevant task goals, plan and organize a means to solve complex problems, shift problem-solving strategies (response modulation), and monitor and evaluate behavior.  The practical view of the model defined as executive functioning is that one needs to be appropriately inhibited, flexible, and under emotional control for efficient, systematic, and organized problem solving to take place.  Scores on three subscales (Inhibit, Shift, Emotional Control) combine to provide a Behavioral Regulation Index (BRI) which represents an ability to shift thought sets and modulate emotions and behavior by appropriate inhibitory control; five subscales (Initiate, Working memory, Plan/Organize, Organization of Materials, Monitor) provide a Metacognitive Index (MI) which represents an ability to cognitively self-manage tasks and reflects the ability for the adolescent to monitor their own performance.  The Global Executive Composite (GEC) is a summary score that incorporates all eight clinical scales.  In addition to the executive functioning scales, the BRIEF includes validity scales designed to detect inconsistent or overly-negative reporting.  Scores are standardized as T-scores with a mean (average) of 50 and a standard deviation of 10.  Elevated scores (clinical T > 70) are indices of deficits in the specified functioning area.
The teacher counselor form (BRIEF) is an 860item scale designed to be completed by an adult who has extended contact with the child or adolescent being evaluated.  Ms. Allison Phillips, SPA counselor, completed the BRIEF.  Thomas completed the self-report form (BRIEF-SR) which consists of 80 items designed to assess executive functioning behavior in boys and girls ages 11 through 18 years.  Based on self-and collateral-report indices, Thomas falls within the normal to above-normal range in all areas of executive functioning.  Scoring summaries for both reports are listed below.
SCALE/INDEX

T SCORE

%ILE

T SCORE

%ILE

Inhibit



      36


    3

       53


    81

Shift



      37


   11

       58


    80

Emotional Control

      38


    7

       52


    82

Monitor


      37


    9

        -


     -

BRI



      34


    1

       54


    84

Initiate



       -


    -

       47


    65

Working Memory

      38


   10

       49


    65

Plan/Organize


      36


    7

       43


    52

Organize


      42


   26

       44


    50

Task Completion

      37


    7

        -


     -

Monitor


       - 


    -

       54


    77

MI



      36


    6

       47


    61

GEC



      34


    3

       50


    66

These scores are considered a valid assessment of executive functions via self- and collateral-reporting since validity scales on both indicated consistent and non-negative validation of items.  Neither inventory suggests a deficit in executive functioning in any of the areas assessed.  Thomas’s reports on the BRIEF-SR agree with his counselor’s reports in profile and indicate no clinically elevated areas of difficulty in executive functions.  There is, however, a difference in the magnitude of functioning assessment, with Thomas indicating a greater degree of functioning than his counselor.  Cross-informant interpretative information, based on normative samples, indicates a strong likelihood that parents and/or teachers (counselors) would differ from self-reports of executive functioning observations, with self-report ratings of deficits lower than collaterally observed reports.  This could, however, be evidence of a defensive style of self-evaluation or a lack of insight on Thomas’s part into his functioning and abilities.

Estimate of Risk of Adolescent Sexual Offense Recidivism (ERASOR) – Version 2.0


There are presently no empirically validated, actuarial instruments that can be used to accurately estimate the risk of adolescent sexual reoffending.  Based on the best available research data and consensus in professional clinical opinion, however, a number of high risk factors have been identified in the literature.  These risk factors include:

· Deviant sexual interests (younger children, violence, or both) (past six months)

· Obsessive sexual interests/preoccupation with sexual thoughts (past six months)

· Attitudes supportive of sexual offending (past six months)

· Unwillingness to alter deviant sexual interests/attitudes (past six months)

· Sexual assault on 2 or more victims (lifetime)

· Sexual assault on same victim 2 or more times (lifetime)

· Prior adult sanctions for sexual assaults (anytime prior to recent events)

· Threats of, or use of, excessive violence/weapons during sexual offense (lifetime)
· Sexual assault of a child (lifetime)
· Sexual assault of a stranger (lifetime)
· Sexual assault of a male victim (male risk only – does not consider homosexuality) (lifetime)
· Diverse sexual-assault behaviors (lifetime)
· Antisocial interpersonal orientation (past 6 months)
· Lack of intimate peer relationships/social isolation (past 6 months)

· Negative peer associations and influences (past 6 months)

· Interpersonal aggression (past 6 months)

· Recent escalation in anger or negative affect (past 6 months)

· Poor self-regulation of affect and behavior (impulsivity) (past 6 months)

· High-stress family environment (past 6 months)

· Problematic parent-offender relationships/parental rejection (past 6 months)

· Parent(s) not supporting sexual-offense-specific assessment/treatment (past 6 months)

· Environment supporting opportunities to reoffend sexually (present time or past 6 months)

· Incomplete sexual-offense-specific treatment

The ERASOR is a semi-structured interview that summarizes the available research (see above) and expert clinical opinion.  This instrument was used to estimate Thomas’s risk of sexual reoffense.  Attempts to validate the information provided by Thomas during the interview was made via prior reports and/or evaluations

According to the test data, Thomas does not present a moderate or high risk to sexually offend in that he does not identify sexual interest in younger children, does not endorse positive attitudes toward non-consensual activity, has not demonstrated any present or past forced sexual behavior, has not sexually assaulted a stranger, denies engaging in diverse or deviant sexual activity (e.g., exhibitionism, voyeurism, stalking, frottage, bestiality), and has not demonstrated recent escalation in anger or negative affect, or poor self-regulation of affect and behavior over the last six months, nor has he demonstrated interpersonal aggression or preoccupation with sexual thoughts during this same timeframe.  Further, Thomas has successfully completed sexual-offense-specific treatment

Although Thomas denies ever having engaged in non-consensual sexual activity, and denies ever having engaged in sexual behavior with a partner younger than himself, there is evidence of factors that would indicate future sexual activity.  Specifically, Thomas has continued to engage in sexual relationships despite sanctions for similar behaviors, and admits to frequent casual intimate relationships with peers.  Further, he has expressed interest in contacting a previous male partner with whom he had a long-term relationship, with the intent of reestablishing their intimacy; however, he indicated that he would wait until he reached the age of consent before trying to reconnect with his previous partner.  Finally, Thomas does not see himself or any of his current partners as engaging in sexual offenses, or himself as an abuser, because they were consensual in nature and age appropriate.
Summary
Thomas appeared to approach the evaluation with a defensive style indicating sensitivity to the outcome of the evaluation process.  Responses to the NYMPI-A rendered an invalid profile due to defensiveness toward personal faults and/or lack of insight.  This defensiveness may have also been evident in his responses on the BRIEF; however, collateral information supported an overall estimate that Thomas is not experiencing any deficits in executive functioning, including ability to manage behavior and emotional control.  Based on his responses during the semi-structured (ERASOR) interview, Thomas appears to pose a minimum threat to sexually reoffend (e.g., exposing himself to a child); however, there is a likelihood that he will engage in sexual activity of a consensual nature with peers.  According to available information (self-report and collateral), there is one validated incident of sexual abuse (exposing to cousin) and one additional allegation of abuse (5-yea-old boy); all other incidents of sexual activity are reported to be consensual with same-aged peers.  The fact that Thomas is engaging in homosexual activities does not mean he is a sexual predator nor does it indicate that he will engage in sexually predatory behavior with children.  Although Thomas’s approach to the evaluation process is considered defensive, information provided during the interview was validated through prior psychological evaluations or collateral interview, thereby supporting the credibility of the information he provided.
INTERVIEWS AND OBSERVATIONS

Observations
Thomas is a sixteen-year-old Caucasian male of average height and slightly overweight.  He was initially observed in the office of Sasha Grace at St. Petersburg Academy on May 23, 2006.  Thomas was well groomed, casually dressed to season, and appeared his stated age.  During this first meeting, the nature and purpose of the evaluation was explained to him, including the limits to confidentiality.  Thomas appeared eager to participate in the evaluation process, and easily engaged in conversation with this evaluator.  Further, he comfortably engaged in conversation with both Ms. Grace and his therapist, Amanda Sims, both of whom were present at the time of the meeting.  Before being prompted, Thomas offered to lead a tour of his living quarters, but asked for a five-minute break to clean up his room.  While touring the facility, Thomas spoke to several of his peers in a friendly and relaxed manner, and appeared to be well received by other residents of the facility.

Thomas arrived at the UFC Psychological Services Center on May 23, 2006, for the first of two inter view and testing sessions.  He was engaged and talkative, and appeared slightly anxious at the start of the evaluation, but became more relaxed when the evaluation process was explained to him.  He continued to be cooperative throughout the sessions, was able to maintain focus on the topics, and expressed himself clearly.  During the interviews on May 23 and 25, he demonstrated a limited range of affect, and his responses were typically constricted; however, Thomas was willing to elaborate on his responses when prompted to do so.

Thomas was observed in two of his classrooms at St. Petersburg Academy on May 27, 2006.  He appeared anxious and avoided eye contact during the observation period.  Thomas frequently engaged in conversation with a female classmate, and purposefully avoided contact with two male classmates that one of his teachers described as “nothing but trouble.”  Thomas transitioned well from one class to the next, and did not become distracted by or engaged in an altercation in the hallway during the class change.
Interviews

Thomas Jones – May 24 and 25, 2006

Thomas was interviewed at the UFC Psychological Services Center.  He related details regarding his numerous placements in and outside of his family.  He demonstrated a willingness to excuse and/or defend his mother’s inability to care for him, citing her physical and mental health problems, and the ungovernable behavior of himself and his younger brother as reasons for him being placed in foster care or placed for adoption.  He stated that he had never met his biological father, Robert Marilo, but had conducted a computer search and found he was last arrested in 1992.

Thomas stated that he had three older half-siblings, Evan, age 17, David, age 21, and Lindsay, age 25, and one younger half-sibling, Tyler, age 13.  All, except Thomas, share the same biological father, Joshua Jones, who Tomas described as an alcoholic.  He further stated that, although Joshua Jones signed Thomas’s birth certificate, he was aware that Thomas was not his biological son.  Thomas indicated that his mother “hooked up with my father after Joshua went to jail for domestic violence against mom, but she went back to Joshua after he got out.”  Thomas indicated he had not had contact with Evan for approximately six or seven years.
Prior to his birth, Thomas stated that his mother and step-father lived in a pickup truck parked in front of his step-paternal grandmother’s (Valerie) house, while Lindsay and David resided with their paternal grandmother.  He further stated that both parents were arrested for neglect, and Valerie was awarded custody of the two children.  Neither child was ever reunited with the biological mother.

When Thomas was approximately three and a half years of age, he reportedly told his mother that he was being sexually abused by his step-father, Joshua Jones.  He stated that Mr. Jones told him to “suck his penis like it was a bottle” and that Mr. Jones “put his penis in my butt.”  Thomas indicated that the abuse did not occur on more than one occasion that he could recall.  He stated that his mother called the police, but he did not know if the step-father was arrested or not, and that she took him, along with Tyler and Evan, and ended the relationship with Mr. Jones.   Thomas stated that “the court gave custody of me and Tyler to my mom, and gave Evan to Josh, but this was before Josh sexually abused Evan and after me.”  When asked about his recall of the events, Thomas indicated that he had memories of the abuse, but that his mother had told him details of the court and custody events.

After separating from Mr. Jones, Thomas stated that he lived with his mother, Tyler, and mother’s paramour, Chad Capps, for approximately seven years.  He stated that he and Chad had a very close relationship, and that Thomas identified with Mr. Capps as a “father figure” who he still maintains at least bi-monthly contact with.  After the breakup of his mother and Mr. Capps’s relationship, Mr. Capps became the live-in paramour of Thomas’s maternal grandmother, Irene Thompson.
Thomas identified several people with whom he shares a close bond with and to whom he turns for emotional support.  He stated that he and his mother are extremely close and that he can talk with her about anything without fear of rejection or reprisal.  He further indicated that he shares a close bond with his brother, Tyler, and gets along well with his mother’s paramour Justin Miller.  Thomas still identifies with Mr. Capps as a father figure, and plans to maintain contact with him.  Thomas does not, however, identify close peer relations.  He stated that he purposefully avoids close relationships with peers and cited a relationship he had established with a female classmate who, after hearing he had exposed himself to his cousin, refused to maintain contact with him.  Thomas indicated that this rejection was emotionally painful for him and he has since avoided the possibility of rejection by others.

According to Thomas, he became aware of his sexual identity around age nine, and indicated he initially experienced a great deal of anxiety about his homosexuality.  Over time, however, he stated that he has been able to accept himself and tries not to concern himself with what others think.  Although he identifies as the “female” partner in a relationship, Thomas clearly articulated his awareness that he is, in fact, male and does not feel like he is a female trapped in a man’s body, nor does he express any interest in cross-gender dressing.  He identified numerous incidents where he would proposition peers or engage in playful, sexually suggestive activities.  However, since returning to SPA, he stated that he no longer tries to engage residents in sexual activities, a change in behavior that is verified by his counselor, psychiatrist, and community manager.
Thomas denied the allegation that he engaged in sexually inappropriate behavior with a fiver year old boy while visiting a sponsor-to-adopt family, but acknowledged having exposed himself to his three-year-old female cousin.  Further, Thomas has acknowledged engaging in both anal and oral sexual activity with numerous male partners since age eleven.  Specifically, Thomas identified one long-term relationship with a male roommate while residing at Sea Turtle, as well as many brief, casual interactions with consenting male peers.  He stated that he would frequently initiate the activity by expressing a willingness to perform oral sex; however, he further stated that he has never forced himself on someone, nor has he engaged in forced or aggressive sexual activities.  He indicated his willingness to perform sexual favors was related to his low self-esteem and desire to establish friendships.  In every instance, Thomas acknowledged that precautions had to be taken to prevent detection by facility staff, indicating that he knew he was engaging in activities for which he could be sanctioned.

Regarding treatment progress and developmental growth, Thomas indicated that he no longer has nightmares or flashbacks about his past abuse.  He stated that he distracts himself from thinking about sex by reading or staying involved in other things, such as attending church twice weekly or going to the all, stating “I don’t think about it [sex] that much any more – used to think about it every day.  At Sea Turtle, I learned I can’t act out every impulse or urge like I did.”  Thomas indicated he has been both a victim of abuse (step-father) and an abuser (exposing penis to cousin), but that he has been “able to work through things I did but not forget what I did.”  He credits his treatment progress as “75% from my treatment plan, 25% from my mom.”

Collateral Interviews
Sasha Grace, Director of Community Services, St. Petersburg Academy.  Mrs. Grace was interviewed on May 23, 2006 at her office at SPA.  Mrs. Grace stated her belief that Thomas is ready to be integrated back into the community, including reunification with his mother via a possible step-down foster placement.  She indicated that he has reached the highest level of trust in the program, and serves as a role model for peers, evidenced by his recent elections by his peers to represent their house concerns at frequent staff meetings.  Since his return from Sea Turtle, Mrs. Grace stated she and other staff members have known him to take ownership for his behavior, and that he has received few consequences in the program.  She indicated concern about Thomas’s frequent stealing habits (items from YMCA, cell phone from visitor at SPA, food from Publix for which he was placed on probation, and coins from his mother’s paramour), but stated her belief that this impulsive behavior could be handled in outpatient therapy and did not require continued confinement in the program.  She further state, “he may have snowed me, but I think he’s a really nice kid.”  She described Thomas as being emotionally congruent and as someone who doesn’t let himself get worked up over things that go on at SPA.  She stated that Thomas was the only successful resident from Sea Turtle and that all others had to be returned to the residential program, while Thomas was able to transition to the Group Home program at SPA without incident.  He successively obtained levels and privileges that included off-campus unsupervised trips to the mall or movie.  During one such trip, Thomas was arrested for shoplifting food at the nearby Publix and lost privileges including gained levels; however, there had been no further incidents and he was able to return to his previous level and privilege status.

According to Mrs. Grace, Thomas actively participated in treatment at SPA by attending individual, group and trauma therapy sessions.  In addition, he participated in family therapy on a weekly basis with his mother, attending face-to-face sessions every other week and telephone sessions every other week.  She stated that both Thomas and his mother were invested in getting him back into the community, and she expressed concern that it would be difficult for Thomas to reintegrate back into the community if he remained in a controlled environment.
Regarding Thomas’s academic efforts, Mrs. Grace indicated that Thomas acted as a model student by all teachers’ accounts.  He was consistently prepared for his classes and had never been noted to misbehave at school.  She indicated that he was maintaining excellent grades in his 9th grade classes and was seeking a standard high school diploma.  This sentiment was confirmed by two of Thomas’s teachers in conversation on May 27, 2006.  Teachers in both his math and computers classes stated Thomas did not fit the profile of the typical student at the charter school, commended him on being able to stay focused on his academics and not become distracted by the behavioral outbursts of other students at the school, and that, in their opinion, he would excel in a more challenging academic environment.  Both expressed their belief that Thomas was emotionally prepared to integrate into an unrestricted academic and community environment.

According to Mrs. Grace, Thomas had been reported by his guardian (see letter from Emily Knox, GAL Program Attorney, dated April 19, 2005) for having pulled up sexually explicit pictures on the internet and printing copies to take back to his room.  Mrs. Grace stated that SPA staff had looked at the pictures and could not find anything that contained any “sexual body parts.”  Thomas described the incident as an academic query to learn what the proper method was to put on a condom.  She indicated no action was taken and expressed no concern about the incident or Thomas’s exploration on the internet.
During the May 23 interview, Mrs. Grace stated there had been no reports or complaints from other residents regarding inappropriate sexual behavior from Thomas, even though he had opportunities for sex.  However, during a follow-up interview on May 30, Mrs. Grace indicated that a male peer had confessed to having consensual sex with Thomas on one occasion within the past three weeks.  Thomas denied the activity stating that they had only kissed.  Mrs. Grace indicated that they were closing the investigation and neither boy would be sanctioned for the alleged event.

Amanda Sims, Therapist, St. Petersburg Academy.  Ms. Sims was interviewed at SPA on May 23, 2006.  Ms. Sims reiterated comments made by Mrs. Grace regarding Thomas’s excellent progress and cooperation at the Group Home.  She described Thomas as a willing participant in treatment and stated her opinion that he should be reunified with his family and reintegrated into the community.  She stated that she did not have any concerns about Thomas being able to control his behavior in a less-restricted environment and expressed concern about the potential damage to his self-esteem, develop, and issues of trust if he remained in confinement.

Kelly Jones, Biological Mother.  Ms. Jones was interviewed in her home on June 7, 2006.  She stated that Thomas had been born in St. Petersburg, FL and that there were no birth or developmental complications.  She described Thomas as impulsive, noting that he began taking things from stores or her residence as early as four or five years of age.  She stated that, although she knew Thomas had many problems, there had always been a strong bond between the two of them.

Ms. Jones recalled that she and Thomas had received both family and one-on-one counseling at Southside Mental Health Center for approximately one year after Thomas disclosed the sexual abuse against him by his step-father.

In addition to related information regarding Thomas’s numerous out-of-home placements described above, Ms. Jones indicated that she suffered from severe depression, as well as physical health problems including chronic back pain, and that she had been unable to manage Thomas and Tyler’s behavior when they lived with her.  She described a long history of domestic violence while living with her husband, Joshua Jones, which had been witnessed by Thomas as a child.  She further described a single incident of domestic violence between herself and her then paramour, Chad, that was also witnessed by Thomas; however, in spite of the incident, she stated that Thomas and Chad had a good relationship and acknowledged that Thomas recognized Chad as a father figure.
According to Ms. Jones, her current live-in boyfriend, Justin Miller, has a good relationship with Thomas, as well as her son, Tyler.  She indicated that Mr. Miller had not been involved in any family counseling sessions, nor had he participated in any of the parenting classes she had taken.  He was, however, actively participating in caring for Tyler and expected to do the same for Thomas when he was reunified with the family.  She described their interactions as positive and, when necessary, discipline was administered in the form of restriction or loss of privileges; no physical punishment was administered.

Ms. Jones recounted the recent Thanksgiving weekend visit when Thomas was first allowed an overnight pass home.  By her account, as well as by Thomas’s, the visit was successful.  However, upon Thomas’s return to SPA, Mr. Miller noticed a missing ca containing approximately $50 in quarters.  Thomas was contacted and admitted to taking the coins, stating he did not why he took them.  As compensation, Thomas would be required to work with Mr. Miller in his lawn care business for two Saturdays to pay back to money.  Ms. Jones stated Thomas had apologized and Mr. Miller had given his forgiveness.  Ms. Jones indicated in a follow-up conversation on June 12, 2006, however, that Mr. Miller was not willing to become involved in any parenting responsibilities for Thomas due in part to the recent theft.  She further indicated that she and her son, Tyler, would be moving from the residence she shares with Mr. Miller and relocating to an apartment beginning July 1, 2006.

Ms. Jones stated that she accepts Thomas as a gay male, but wished “things had been different.”  She recalled Thomas was around nine years old when he first acknowledged his homosexual identity.  She further stated that Thomas told her about his sexual activities while at the Children’s Home, but was unaware of any problems with his sexually acting out at Sea Turtle.  Thomas, according to Ms. Jones, indicated that he would likely identify as the female in a relationship when older.  Both she and Thomas, however, do not believe that he is experiencing gender identity disorder – only that he identifies as a male homosexual.

Ms. Jones indicated that she does not approve of under-aged sex, and that she will not permit boys or girls in the home if Thomas returns to live with her.  She expressed confidence that Thomas would not offend against his brother, and that Tyler had also expressed a lack of concern.  She stated that alarms had been placed on the bedroom doors of both boys prior to Thomas’s weekend visit, and indicated that Thomas’s bedroom had been prepared in the room next door to her bedroom so that she would know if he ever tried to leave at inappropriate times.

Ms. Jones reiterated her desire to reunite with Thomas on several occasions.  She evidenced her commitment by stating she had complied with all court-ordered programs, including parenting classes, and actively participated in family therapy sessions at SPA.  She does not anticipate any problems with managing Thomas when he returns, and believes she has adequate support for a successful reunification.

James Yeh, Psychiatrist, St. Petersburg Academy.  Dr. Yeh was interviewed via telephone on June 8, 2006.  He described first meeting Thomas while a resident at the Children’s Home where he had difficulty dealing with low self-esteem and difficulty expressing feelings, then began treating him in May 2005 when Thomas returned from Sea Turtle treatment program.  He indicated that after returning to SPA, Thomas was open and able to talk about things, particularly his past problems with anger that were being resolved through contact with his family and through therapy, and trust issues regarding adults.
Dr. Yeh stated that Thomas was on large doses of antidepressant medications (Wellbutrin SR – 200 mg 2x/day; Lexapro – 50 mg 1x/day; Trieptal – 300 mg 1x/day; Clonodine – 1 mg at night) when he returned to SPA which, Dr. Yeh believes, was partially intended as medication management of Thomas’s sexual behavior and prescribed to make him impotent.  Since returning to SPA, Thomas is prescribed Wellbutrin XL (300 mg 1x/day) and Lexapro (20 mg 1x/day) with no evidence of behavioral change or increase in symptoms.
Over the past seven months, Thomas does not appear to be experiencing symptoms of PTSD or depression.  Dr. Yeh indicated the current primary diagnosis is PTSD (for billing purposes), with secondary Impulsive Disorder NOS and paraphelia by history.  Dr. Yeh stated that, “now that the PTSD and depression are out of the way, normal developmental stuff is now coming out, such as shoplifting.”  He described Thomas as an institutionalized kid who is trying to find out about himself, and indicated that Thomas’s pattern of acting out seems more preplanned and experimental – looking to see where his boundaries are.  Dr. Yeh further stated that “he is not sure what he [Thomas] is capable of outside of an institutionalized setting, but he may experiment with normal developmental curiosity.”  He also stated that he doesn’t think “Tom will go crazy and become promiscuous – he’s not out to abuse himself or anybody else.  He has to learn to behave in a broader social context.”  Dr. Yeh stated he has no concerns about Thomas being in a less restrictive environment, and in the “long term good, we have to take the chance that he’ll adapt.”  Any behavioral setbacks would likely be in the form of shoplifting; Dr. Yeh does not expect Thomas to act out sexually.

Dr. Yeh shares others’ concern that Thomas is not able to internalize what he has learned in a very structured institutionalized environment and stated Thomas is “sixteen but still learning things other kids learned at age four.  He hasn’t had a chance to experience things and is playing catch-up.”  He sees Thomas’s reintegration back into the community “in the long term good for society as a whole”, as a positive step, and believes Thomas will be able to contribute to society.  He also shares that belief of SPA staff that Thomas does well with handling transition, that he has worked out his issues with his family, and needs his family’s support to contribute his growth and development.
Summary

Thomas was placed in the Group Home section of St. Petersburg Academy, a less restrictive placement from his previous residential treatment housing, after his return from Sea Turtle Youth Services.  Since returning to SPA, Thomas has been advanced through his treatment plan and earned the various levels allowed in the program.  He has been given privileges at an increasing pace, with some setbacks, including an arrest for shoplifting and taking money from his mother’s paramour during a weekend pass.  Although sanctioned for these infractions, Thomas is currently at the least restrictive level of the Group Home at SPA and has been otherwise successful with off-site privileges.  There have been no substantial allegations of sexually inappropriate behavior.  Thomas continues to excel in his academic efforts and has earned the respect of his teachers, peers, and SPA staff.

SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Thomas Jones is a 16-year-old Caucasian male who identifies as homosexual with a history of sexual abuse, physical abuse, neglect, dysfunctional family issues, depression, posttraumatic stress, paraphilia, and aggression.  He has resided in non0relative foster placements since age 11, including two residential treatment programs designed to address ongoing psychological problems and inappropriate sexual behavior.  Thomas completed a one-year sex offender treatment program and currently resides in a group home environment where he has earned the least-restrictive level and off-site privileges.
The Honorable Mike Shaughnessy has ordered a psychological evaluation of Thomas Jones with specifications to address the issues listed below.  Following are responses and recommendations.

a.  
impulse control:  based on observation, collateral report, including actuarial measures designed to assess executive functioning which includes impulse control, and self-report, Thomas is functioning within the normal range.  However, Thomas continues to demonstrate instrumental and premeditated stealing behaviors (e.g., items at YMC, cell phone from SPA visitor, candy from Publix, coins from mother’s residence).  This may be evidence of pathological behavior and/or characterological problems, and this lack of control needs to continue to be addressed by a therapist, including Thomas’s awareness and understanding for escalating criminal sanctions if this behavior continues;

b.  
services necessary to support reunification process:  If efforts toward reunification are initiated, both Thomas and his mother will need to continue with family therapy which should include: encouragement to talk about his placement experiences; what separation was like for him; developmental changes experienced while in out-of-home placements; appropriate expressions of anger; and goals and expectations of present and future relationship development.  Thomas’s brother, Tyler, should also be included in family therapy, as well as any other individuals residing within the family structure, so that the family system as a whole can be a part of the integrative process.  Assessment of the strengths and weaknesses of the family structure should be ongoing, and areas of potential breakdown in communication, trust, or commitment should be dealt with immediately on an as-needed basis.  Thomas’s mother has completed the case plan required for reunification and expresses a commitment to Thomas’s continued development; however, given her past parenting deficits and mental health issues, monitoring of treatment compliance by a case manager is recommended.

Thomas will require ongoing individual therapy, including pharmacological management.  Specifically, a cognitive-behavioral treatment program designed to address his defensive strategies in dealing with past physical and emotional problems is recommended.  Additional treatment planning should include monitoring of symptoms of past depression and posttraumatic stress, and positive self-esteem.  Although Thomas professes a comfort level with his sexual identity, his positive self-image may be affected by interaction with peers outside the structured environment he has experienced over the past recent years.  Frequent monitoring of his emotional and behavioral adjustment during transitions is recommended.

c.
current mental health:  symptoms of both depression and PTSD appear to be in remission, indicating a response to treatment.  This should continue to be managed with therapeutic treatment, with pharmacological treatment supervised by a psychiatrist.  Although currently stable, changes in environment or routine may require emotional adjustment on his part; therefore, Thomas should continue with cognitive-behavioral therapy throughout periods of transition and until he is stabilized in a community setting.

d.
propensity toward violence:  Thomas does not demonstrate a propensity toward violence for either instrumental or incidental purposes.  Although sanctioned for previous violent or aggressive behavior (stabbing peer with pen; throwing items at staff), there is no evidence of aggressive or violent behavior toward peers, adults, or self at the present time.

e. 
illegal drug abuse:  there is not evidence of past or current use of illegal drus, and Thomas expresses a negative interest in engaging in substance abuse, including abuse of prescription drugs.

f.
alcohol abuse:  as with drug abuse, there is no evidence of past or current use of alcohol, and Thomas indicates a lack of desire to engage in the use of alcohol.

g.
prescription drug use:  Thomas has acknowledged the benefits of compliance with his prescribed medications for symptom management; however, there is not indication that he will abuse prescription drugs for non-medical purposes, nor does he indicate a prosocial attitude toward drug abuse.

h.
sexual abuse:  Thomas acknowledges his victimization but states he has worked through the issues relating to his abuse; symptoms of posttraumatic stress such as nightmares or spontaneous recall of events appear to have remitted for at least one year.  Thomas acknowledges and takes responsibility for having sexually abused his cousin by exposed himself, but denies abuse toward a 5-year-old boy during a weekend visit.  Since these two reported incidents, there have been no further allegations of inappropriate sexual behavior with younger-aged children, and Thomas has successfully completed a sex offender treatment program.  Although he has engaged in sexual activity with same-age or older peers, typically casual in nature and initiated by him, Thomas identifies these interactions as consensual sexual acts that do not include threat of violence or aggression, and therefore, not as acts of sexual abuse.  Although he understands the potential for sanctions against adolescent sexual behavior, regardless of sexual identity including same-gender partnering, Thomas is likely to continue to engage in consensual relationships that are sexual in nature.

i.
presence of adequate support systems:  included in Thomas’s support system is his mother, half-brother, his mother’s previous paramour, and a support mentor (Jackie Macks), relationships he expects to continue if discharged.  Additional support system members include teachers and staff at St. Petersburg Academy, a system that will diminish if he is transitioned to a lesser-restrictive environment.  Thomas does not identify with any peer support system and should be encouraged to engage in structured organizational activities in the community (e.g., church, extra-curricular school activities, neighborhood community programs) in order to establish such a system.  In addition, Thomas would benefit greatly from having a male mentor, and perhaps a gay male mentor, who can model positive adolescent/adult associations and interactions.

j.
personality:  temperament is a set of stable traits and characteristics that are present from birth and organize the way one approaches the world; personality is a result  of the interaction between temperament and personal experiences, i.e., the fit between an adolescent’s temperament and their experiences throughout their developmental years.  Personality and/or characterological deficits may not be as evident in a controlled environment that includes external constraints on behavior and requires learned program responses for evidence of treatment progress (e.g., Rational Emotive Behavioral Treatment goals of acknowledgement, acceptance, and atonement for inappropriate behaviors) than deficits that might be evident in a less-controlled environment where Thomas will need to rely on internal control.  Although not considered personality disordered, his defensiveness can be viewed as a lack of insight into person faults or as an unwillingness to acknowledge personal shortcomings, which can mask the presentation of disordered personality features.  Close monitoring of Thomas’s ethical and moral development by a therapist sophisticated in personality features is recommended.
k.
emotional functioning/dysfunction:  Thomas currently demonstrates adequate control of his emotional functioning, demonstrated by lack of inappropriate range of emotions, or emotional responses incongruent with his mood.  He does, however, demonstrate a restricted range of emotion signaling over-control of emotional presentation.  This over-controlled emotional approach may subside to some degree if Thomas is placed in an environment where he feels more comfortable expressing himself honestly.  This emotional modulation should be addressed by a psychologist or psychiatrist who is proficient in cognitive-behavioral therapeutic treatment.
l.
future risk:  any prediction of future risk of behavior is subject o fallibility.  Based on the current research addressing future risk assessment (see above re ERASOR), Thomas does not appear to present a current or future risk for engaging in sexual predatory behavior with children, nor does he appear to present a risk for violence or aggression.  Thomas has demonstrated behavioral control in varying levels of confinement.  The degree to which he has been able to internalize that control while in a predominately institutionalized environment should be monitored if he is to progress through stages of community integration.  Thomas should continue receiving both emotional and behavioral support throughout any transition period.

m.
attachment and bonding issues:  Maltreated children are likely to have a devalued sense of self, a mistrust of others, a tendency toward negative attribution bias, hostility, delayed moral development, and a wariness of close relationships.  There is irrefutable evidence to indicate Thomas has experienced disrupted patterns of attachment with his parental caregivers (e.g., sexual abuse by his step-father, neglect or abandonment by his mother, and physical abuse by his sister’s mother-in-law) and that Thomas has demonstrated many of the negative attributes listed above (e.g., low self-esteem, offering sexual favors to peers to gain friendships, hostility toward program workers).  However, throughout his non-relative placements, including the present, Thomas has strived to maintain a relationship with his mother, and has consistently sought external causes for her inability to care for him (e.g., mother’s poor physical and mental health; Thomas’s ungovernable behavior).  Both he and his mother appear to have maintained a strong bonded throughout their disorganized relationship, and both appear motivated to continue to work toward reunification.  This may be evidence of treatment progress made during family therapy, or may be related in part to Thomas’s defensive coping style in dealing with issues of abuse and neglect.  Issues of trust and secure attachment should continue to be addressed during family therapy.
I appreciate the opportunity to conduct this evaluation of Thomas Jones.  Please let me know if you have additional questions or if I can be of further assistance.

Respectfully submitted, 

Maria Smith, Ph.D.

Psychology Fellow
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